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A. PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner Peter Trevigne, the appellant below, seeks review 

of the Court of Appeals’ decision (Op.), attached, filed June 3, 

2024, affirming his conviction. 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Where a prospective juror said her emotional 

reaction to the allegations might bias her against the defense, and 

repeated attempts to rehabilitate her yielded only equivocal 

statements, did the trial court abuse its discretion by denying a 

for-cause challenge?  (Yes.  The Court of Appeals affirmed 

because it misread this Court’s decision in State v. Noltie, 116 

Wn.2d 831, 809 P.2d 190 (1991), in a manner that cannot be 

reconciled with Sixth Amendment protections.) 

2. Where an investigating officer affirmatively misled 

the defense about the scope the data included in a Cellebrite 

report, and where the State failed to disclose tens of thousands of 

messages extracted from Mr. Trevigne’s laptop until after trial 
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had begun, in violation of CrR 4.7(a)(1)(v), with the result that 

Mr. Trevigne was subject to surprise impeachment on cross-

examination, did the trial court abuse its discretion by denying 

the defense motion for a new trial or, alternatively, was defense 

counsel ineffective for failing to prevent this surprise?  (Yes.  

Under the Court of Appeals’ paradoxical analysis, there is no 

remedy for the highly prejudicial spectacle that occurred here.) 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Mr. Trevigne and Angie Setlak became pregnant with their 

son, X, in 2017.  RP 828-29, 834-35.  Both parents were excited to 

welcome X, who would be Ms. Setlak’s first child and Mr. 

Trevigne’s first son.  RP 834-35, 852.  The couple shared an 

apartment in Seattle with K, Mr. Trevigne’s daughter from a 

previous relationship.  RP 849. 

Ms. Setlak gave birth to X on May 8, 2018.  RP 766, 771, 

834, 842-44.  X was born premature and underweight, so he 
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remained in the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) for two and a 

half weeks.  RP 764-75. 

For the first three months of X’s life, Ms. Setlak stayed 

home on maternity leave.  RP 872.  Mr. Trevigne went to work 

during the day and slept at night.  RP 849.  On the weekends, he 

would get up with X during the night.  RP 852. 

On August 9, 2018, Ms. Setlak returned to work full time.  

RP 872-73, 1940.  Mr. Trevigne switched to the night shift, so he 

could watch X all day.  RP 873, 1833-34. 

At 2:26 p.m. on August 9, Mr. Trevigne called 911 to report 

that X had stopped breathing.  RP 562; Ex. 7.  Responding 

paramedics rushed X and Mr. Trevigne to Children’s Hospital, 

where doctors determined X had two subdural hematomas.  RP 

591, 921, 1004-05, 1030, 1158-63, 1198-1207. 

Shortly after 1 a.m., Seattle Police Department (SPD) 

officers arrested Mr. Trevigne.  RP 733-34, 930-32, 2028-30.  

They told Ms. Setlak they suspected “abusive head trauma” 
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(AHT), and they collected her cell phone.  RP 724-26, 929.  Ms. 

Setlak consented to a search for communications between August 

3 and August 10, 2018.  RP 658-59; CP 1416.  Sergeant Darin 

Sugai extracted data from the phone using Cellebrite.  RP 658-59; 

CP 1321; CP 1416. 

On August 14, 2018, the King County Prosecutor charged 

Mr. Trevigne with one count of first-degree assault of a child, 

domestic violence.  CP 1.  The State later amended the information 

to allege an abuse of trust aggravator.  CP 8-9. 

Exactly one year later, the State provided the defense with 

the lead detective’s report.  CP 870.  It stated that officers had 

obtained Mr. Trevigne’s laptop shortly after his arrest and found 

“‘messages Trevigne sent telling others that X.T. had stopped 

breathing and turned pale.’”  CP 870.  Over the next ten months, 

the defense repeatedly asked for the laptop data, but never received 

it.  CP 871-72. 
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Meanwhile, on January 28, 2020, the State provided the 

defense with a USB drive containing the Cellebrite data.  CP 1416; 

RP 1580, 2086.  It contained numerous folders, including one 

labeled “logical 01,” which was three folders deep and contained 

numerous files labeled “Report.”  CP 1416-17. 

On August 5, 2020, the parties interviewed Sergeant Sugai 

about this data.  CP 1309-48.  He explained that it contained 

readable data only from the eight-day window for which Ms. 

Setlak had consented to the search.  CP 1321-25, 1334, 1339, 

1342-44.  The prosecutor said nothing to contradict this.  CP 1316-

48. 

On October 20, 2020—almost a year after the defense first 

requested the laptop analysis—defense counsel interviewed the 

lead detective.  CP 872.  She told the defense she was still 

finalizing her last report and would provide it soon, but she never 

followed up on that promise.  CP 872. 
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Jury selection began on April 19, 2022.  RP 11-17, 46-55.  

The potential jurors were questioned about their ability remain 

impartial while hearing allegations of assault against an infant.  See 

RP 91-92, 133-42, 184-94, 219-21, 254-59, 280, 336, 383-85.  

Most acknowledged that it would be upsetting to hear testimony 

supporting those allegations, but many also stated that they could 

nevertheless remain impartial.  E.g., RP 125-26, 140, 194. 

On the questionnaire, Juror 122 gave conflicting answers 

about this.  In response to the question, “Do you have any concerns 

for any reason about your ability to be a fair and impartial juror in 

this case?,” Juror 122 answered: “No.”  CP 1441, 1735.  But in 

response to the question, “Is there any reason that you would be 

unable to be fair and impartial to both sides in a case involving an 

accusation of assault of an infant?,” she answered: “Yes,” and 

elaborated: “Maybe.  I’m a mother and would have hard time 

understanding why someone would do that.”  CP 1440, 1735.  
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On the first day of voir dire, defense counsel asked the jurors 

whether they would be able to return a not-guilty verdict if the 

defendant did not testify.  RP 164.  Several responded that this 

would be difficult, including Juror 122, who also stated: “It would 

be hard to listen to . . . allegations of abuse against a child because 

I just - - I couldn’t imagine doing it myself or why someone would 

do it.”  RP 164-73. 

Later, the defense asked the panel to raise their hands if they 

thought, “[Y]ou know, this is not for me.  I really can’t just set 

aside everything and sort of be this idealized version of 

impartiality.”  RP 185.  Eight potential jurors raised their hands, 

including Juror 122.  RP 185.  When questioned about this 

response, Juror 122 elaborated: 

I mean . . . we’ve all been there with small 

children, but there’s a million options besides 

shaking them and hurting them and it just has long-

term impacts and I think I’d like to think I could be 

unbiased, but I’m not sure I could when it comes to 

abuse of a small child. 
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RP 192. 

The defense challenged Juror 122 for cause, citing her need 

to hear from the defendant, as well as her repeated concerns that 

she could not be fair given the nature of the allegations.  RP 198.  

The prosecutor said he would defer to the court.  RP 197-98.  The 

court denied the challenge, reasoning: 

. . . the fact that she . . . says I want to hear from the 

defendant doesn’t provide the Court with much 

useful information in deciding whether or not a 

challenge for cause is appropriate.  She did say she 

would rely on the lawyers and judge as to 

Constitutional rights. 

 

RP 198.  The court did not acknowledge Juror 122’s discomfort 

with the nature of the allegations.  RP 198. 

The defense exhausted all nine of its peremptory challenges.  

RP 418-22, 435.  Juror 122 was seated and ultimately deliberated.  

RP 422, 2271; CP 1424-25, 2271. 

The State’s theory had three components: expert medical 

testimony that X’s injuries stemmed from “whiplash forces”; text 
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messages Mr. Trevigne sent to Ms. Setlak on August 9, 2018, 

expressing frustration that X would not stop crying and stay asleep, 

and calling X names like “little fucker”; and statements that Mr. 

Trevigne allegedly made to paramedics, to the effect that X had 

choked on milk, which he later denied making.  RP 439-56.  The 

State also told the jury that Mr. Trevigne was not a helpful father 

during the months after X was born.  RP 444-45. 

The defense theory was that X suffered a spontaneous 

stroke, which confirmation bias and a rigid belief in shaken baby 

syndrome (SBS) / AHT theory prevented doctors from detecting.  

RP 457-58.  

The State finally disclosed the lead detective’s report on the 

morning after opening statements.  RP 636-38, 641-43; CP 1403.  

The report indicated that the State had downloaded and placed in 

evidence “all the information” from the laptop, in early September 

of 2020, including the messages in which Mr. Trevigne told others 

that X had spontaneously stopped breathing.  RP 637-44. 
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Defense counsel immediately brought this to the trial court’s 

attention, explaining that such messages would be exculpatory 

because they would contradict the State’s theory that Mr. Trevigne 

initially claimed X choked on milk and then later changed his 

story.  RP 615, 636-38. 

The court observed that the delayed disclosure was at least 

a violation of CrR 4.7, but it ruled that trial should proceed.  RP 

644-45. 

Testimony began, and the jury heard from X’s pediatrician, 

a nurse who visited X and Mr. Trevigne a few hours before the 911 

call, two first responders, and the lead detective.  RP 466-524, 527-

609, 617-34, 650-70. 

The defense obtained the laptop USB drive after the second 

day of testimony.  CP 874.  It contained a total of 137,624 

messages between Mr. Trevigne and one of six “contacts,” 

including Ms. Setlak.  CP 876, 1308.  The exchanges with Ms. 

Setlak dated back as far as October 2017.  CP 879.  In one of these 



 -11-  

messages, Ms. Setlak jokingly refers to X, still in utero at the time, 

as “‘little fucker.’”  CP 879. 

The defense moved for a mistrial, arguing they could not 

cull through more than 100,000 messages while also preparing for 

witnesses.  RP 791-94.  The court denied the motion without 

prejudice.  RP 795.  That day, the jury heard from an emergency 

room doctor who saw X in late July of 2018, two SPD 

investigating officers, and a doctor who cared for X in the NICU.  

RP 674-778. 

The following morning (April 28, 2022), the prosecutor told 

the court that the lead detective had disavowed the statements in 

her report, regarding the “‘[t]ext messages Trevigne sent others 

that XT stopped breathing and turned pale.’”  RP 801.  The 

prosecutor also asserted, for the first time, that the message in 

which Ms. Setlak referred to X as “little fucker” had been disclosed 

to the defense along with the Cellebrite extraction, which 
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contained “every message . . . dating back to July of 2017.”  RP 

804-05. 

The defense disputed the latter point, asserting—consistent 

with Sergeant Sugai’s express assurances—that the messages from 

the Cellebrite extraction were limited to the eight-day window 

between August 3 and August 10, 2018.  RP 805-06. 

Trial proceeded, and the jury heard testimony from Ms. 

Setlak and Sergeant Sugai.  RP 812-964. 

Ms. Setlak testified that, before she returned to work, Mr. 

Trevigne was regularly alone with X all night on the weekends and 

when Ms. Setlak went out to run an errand.  RP 854, 859.  She also 

said there were two occasions on which she went out—once to 

have pizza with friends and once to get a new breast pump—and 

Mr. Trevigne called her to come home early because he could not 

handle X.  RP 855-58.  But Ms. Setlak also testified that Mr. 

Trevigne was calm around X, handled his screaming better than 
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she did, and had a special way of rocking X that put him to sleep.  

RP 868-70. 

Through Ms. Setlak, the State introduced all the text 

messages Mr. Trevigne exchanged with her on August 9, 2018, 

including many in which he referred to X with names like, “little 

fucker” and “asshole,” and one in which he joked about murdering 

X.  RP 873-914; Ex. 19.  Ms. Setlak testified that she had 

experienced similar frustration but had not reacted by sending Mr. 

Trevigne “messages like these.”  RP 885. 

When court resumed on May 2, 2022, the defense filed a 

written Motion to Dismiss for Brady Violations.  CP 686.  The 

motion explained: “there are 51,223 messages sent/received with 

Angie Setlak,” and tens of thousands more messages exchanged 

with other people, some of which appeared exculpatory in that they 

showed Mr. Trevigne engaging in good parenting and Ms. Setlak 

using humorously derogatory names for X.  CP 876-77. 
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The motion acknowledged there were messages between 

Ms. Setlak and Mr. Trevigne dating back to October 2017, but it 

also explained: “To date, defense counsel has not reviewed all the 

messages supplied . . . in the laptop analysis [and] . . . counsel 

believes an independent computer forensic expert would be 

needed to adequately review all the data on the laptop.”  CP 877. 

Trial continued, and the State presented testimony by its 

medical experts.  RP 972-1138, 1148-1239, 1244-1275, 1284-

1406, 1412-1562.  This testimony was incredibly complex and 

took four full days (May 2, 3, 4, and 5). 

The parties argued the Brady motion on May 9.  RP 1567, 

1605-79. 

The defense argued the laptop materials appeared to include 

two categories of potentially exculpatory evidence: (1) thousands 

of messages between Mr. Trevigne and Ms. Setlak over the ten 

months leading up to August 9, 2018; and (2) videos Mr. Trevigne 

sent on August 9 to a friend, which appeared to show him holding 
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and interacting with X, but which were inaccessible in the format 

disclosed on the USB drive.  CP 882-63, 977-78, 1244-45; RP 

1570-71, 1583.  The messages with Ms. Setlak showed her 

referring to X with nicknames like “little fucker.”  CP 877; RP 

1568-74. 

The State argued the laptop materials were nothing new, for 

two reasons.  RP 1574-80.  First, everyone agreed that Mr. 

Trevigne loved X, so images of good parenting were irrelevant.  

RP 1574-79.  Second, the defense had possessed all the text 

messages between Mr. Trevigne and Ms. Setlak since January 28, 

2020, when the State turned over the Cellebrite analysis.  RP 1579-

80; CP 1402. 

The defense adamantly disputed the latter point.  RP 1581, 

1591-92.  It supplied the court with a printout of every message it 

could see when it opened the Cellebrite report.  CP 976-1245. 

The court did not resolve the factual dispute over the 

Cellebrite materials.  RP 1585-90, 1598.  Instead, it tentatively 
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ruled that the defense could admit all the laptop messages in 

question, reasoning that this would eliminate any prejudice.  RP 

1587-98. 

Following that ruling, the parties conferred and the defense 

learned, for the first time, that Cellebrite report did, in fact, contain 

messages dating back to 2017.  CP 1308. 

The jury heard cross-examination of the State’s primary 

expert witness that day, followed by testimony from X’s physical 

therapist, and then the State rested.  RP 1605-1679. 

On May 9 and 10, the defense presented its expert witnesses.  

RP 1680-1720, 1725-1889. 

At the close of testimony on May 10, defense counsel told 

the court she had still not had time to meet with Mr. Trevigne to 

go over the laptop messages.  RP 1890, 1892.  She requested a 

recess until the following afternoon.  RP 1892.  The court granted 

a recess only until 10:30 the following morning.  RP 1892. 
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When court resumed the next day, Mr. Trevigne testified.  

RP 1914.  Like Ms. Setlak, he testified that X was a fussy baby, 

but that they handled this well.  RP 1920-22.  He said he and Ms. 

Setlak shared childcare responsibilities.  RP 1931-33. 

Mr. Trevigne acknowledged the incident in which Ms. 

Setlak came home early from her pizza date.  RP 1929-30.  He said 

he felt terrible for interrupting her night out, but that X wanted to 

nurse, so he sent Ms. Setlak an apologetic message asking her to 

come home.  RP 1929-31. 

Mr. Trevigne also testified that Ms. Setlak had jokingly 

coined X’s nickname, “little fucker,” at a prenatal appointment.  

RP 1926; Ex. 68.  He said they both occasionally referred to him 

that way afterwards.  RP 1928-29. 

Mr. Trevigne testified at length about the messages he 

exchanged with Ms. Setlak on August 9, 2018.  RP 1939-98.  He 

acknowledged that they indicated frustration, but he said the 

messages about “murder” were a private joke, based on similar 
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things Ms. Setlak said in messages on July 26, 2018, when she took 

X to the ER for fussiness.  RP 1934-35, 1950-51, 1964. 

Describing the minutes before he called 911, Mr. Trevigne 

testified that he was walking X around the apartment when X 

suddenly jolted, stiffened, turned red and then pale again, and 

began crying harder than normal.  RP 2014-16.  He said he then 

attempted to feed X, but soon became worried X might choke 

because he was crying so hard that milk was pooling in his mouth.  

RP 2016.  Mr. Trevigne said he put the bottle down and, as he was 

cleaning X, X “makes this . . . like a wet dry heave and I look at 

him and his eyes close and he goes limp.”  RP 2016.  Mr. Trevigne 

then called 911, after determining that X was unconscious.  RP 

2016-18. 

The prosecutor devoted almost all his cross-examination to 

text messages extracted from the laptop or Ms. Setlak’s cell phone.  

RP 2039-59.  He asked Mr. Trevigne about messages in which he 

admitted to cheating on Ms. Setlak, and messages in which he 
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complained about Ms. Setlak and X, to various friends, and joked 

about murdering them.  RP 2046-49.  The prosecutor elicited Mr. 

Trevigne’s admission, prompted by an exhibit containing his 

messages with Ms. Setlak on July 24, 25, and 26, 2018, that none 

contained any statement by Ms. Setlak about wanting to murder X.  

RP 2050-56; Ex. 73, 74.  And the prosecutor introduced a long text 

message exchange from the night Ms. Setlak went out for pizza, in 

which Mr. Trevigne wrote: “‘I need you to come home,’” said he 

was “‘about to lose my shit,’” and called X “‘[t]his piece of shit 

son of ours.’”  RP 2059; Ex. 75. 

Later that day, the defense renewed the motion to dismiss 

for discovery violations.  RP 2083.  Counsel argued she had not 

had sufficient time to review the contents of the laptop analysis, 

and Mr. Trevigne had consequently been surprised on cross-

examination.  RP 2083-84.  She reminded the court that the defense 

had learned the full extent of the Cellebrite messages only three 

days earlier, and “certainly did not have the opportunity to review 
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all of those messages with Mr. Trevigne prior to him testifying.”  

RP 2086. 

The court denied the motion without comment.  RP 2086.   

In closing argument, the prosecutor cited the text messages 

from July, 2018, telling the jury they proved Mr. Trevigne’s 

testimony “objectively false.”  RP 2159-62.  The prosecutor 

argued: 

And you saw me cross-examine Mr. Trevigne and 

to some degree he might think he is smarter than you, 

or at least he is hoping he is, but you saw how he 

responded [when] I confronted him with his prior text 

messages that were very different than what he 

described in his testimony. 

 

RP 2156. 

The jury found Mr. Trevigne guilty as charged.  RP 2279; 

CP 1301-03. 

The defense moved for a new trial, arguing again that it had 

been blindsided by cross-examination on text messages it had not 

had time to review.  CP 1306-13.  Jurors who stayed after the 
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verdict said that this had diminished Mr. Trevigne’s credibility.  

CP 1309; RP 2298-99. 

The State argued a person could not be surprised by his own 

statements, and that the defense was on notice of all the Cellebrite-

extracted messages when the State disclosed them in January, 

2020.  CP 1420; RP 2293-96. 

The court denied the motion.  RP 2300.  It agreed that, had 

the defense had more time to review the messages, Mr. Trevigne 

might have been able to ameliorate their prejudicial effect.  RP 

2300.  But it concluded, “I think the evidence would have come 

out anyway.”  RP 2300. 

The court also agreed with the prosecutor that, despite 

Sergeant Sugai’s misleading statements about the Cellebrite 

report, the defense could have hired a computer expert to conduct 

their own investigation.  RP 2300-01. 

The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence of 150 

months.  RP 2343.  Mr. Trevigne timely appealed. 
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Court of Appeals Decision 

On appeal, Mr. Trevigne argued the trial court violated his 

right to an impartial jury, under the Sixth Amendment and article 

I, section 22, when it denied the for-cause challenge to Juror 122.  

BOA at 50.  Citing Washington and federal precedent, he argued 

that “[w]hen a juror initially expresses doubts about their ability to 

be fair,” that juror “must not be seated . . . unless they ultimately 

give affirmative and unequivocal assurances of impartiality.”  Op. 

Br. at 51-54 (collecting cases). 

Mr. Trevigne also argued the trial court abused its discretion 

by denying the motion for a new trial.  Op. Br. at 56-66.  In the 

alternative, Mr. Trevigne argued defense counsel was ineffective 

for failing to adequately investigate the laptop and Cellebrite 

evidence.  Op. Br. at 66-69. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed. 

In an opinion citing no federal precedent, the Court held that 

“some equivocation” is never “enough to show actual [juror] bias.”  
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Op. at 6.  It purported to derive that rule from Noltie, 116 Wn.2d 

831. Op. at 6. 

The Court of Appeals also rejected Mr. Trevigne’s claims 

regarding the motion for a new trial and ineffective assistance.  

With respect to the motion for a new trial, the court reasoned that, 

even if the Cellebrite disclosure was mishandled, the State cured 

any error when it disclosed the laptop materials after trial had 

already begun.  Op. at 14-15.  Ignoring defense counsel’s repeated 

assertions in the trial court that she had not reviewed the laptop 

materials in sufficient detail, and that she needed more time to 

review them with Mr. Trevigne, the Court of Appeals concluded: 

“the record clearly establishes that [the laptop materials] were 

reviewed prior to Trevigne’s testimony as defense counsel 

described their contents in the motion to dismiss filed nine days 

before Trevigne took the stand.”  Op. at 15. 

Finally, the Court of Appeals rejected the ineffective 

assistance claim because, in the appellate court’s view, any failure 
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to review the text messages did not rise to the level required for 

relief: a “complete[] fail[ure] to investigate pivotal issues of the[] 

case.”  Op. at 17. 

D. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

Under RAP 13.4(b)(3), Supreme Court review is 

appropriate if a petition involves “a significant question of law 

under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United 

States.”  Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), review is appropriate “[i]f the 

petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should 

be determined by the Supreme Court.”  Mr. Trevigne’s petition 

warrants review under both provisions. 

1. Mr. Trevigne’s Juror Bias Claim Warrants Review 

under RAP 13.4(b)(3). 

 

As noted, federal precedent holds that “[w]hen a juror 

initially expresses doubts about their ability to be fair,” that juror 

“must not be seated . . . unless they ultimately give affirmative and 
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unequivocal assurances of impartiality.”  See Op. Br. at 51-54 

(collecting cases). 

This rule is clearly illustrated by United States v. 

Kechedzian, 902 F.3d 1023, 1025-31 (9th Cir. 2018).  The 

defendant in that case faced charges of identity theft and 

possession of unauthorized access devices.  Id. at 1025.  During 

voir dire, a juror identified herself as someone who might struggle 

to be fair and impartial because she had been the victim of identity 

theft several years earlier.  Id. at 1026.  She told the court: “‘I might 

be able to put that aside and just go by what I hear here in the 

courtroom.’”  Id. 

In response to follow-up questions, the juror repeatedly 

stressed that she would “‘want to put [her] personal stuff aside,’” 

and “‘would try to be fair,’” but was not sure she would be able to.  

Id.  The trial court denied a for-cause challenge, and the defendant 

was subsequently convicted.  Id.  The Ninth Circuit Court of 

Appeals reversed his conviction, holding that the district court 
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abused its discretion by seating a juror who displayed actual bias.  

Id. at 1031. 

The Ninth Circuit reasoned that, once a juror identifies 

herself as someone who might be biased, she can be rehabilitated 

only by an unequivocal statement of impartiality.  Id. at 1029-30.  

Where the juror is offered multiple opportunities for rehabilitation, 

and repeatedly declines to assure the court that she “can put her 

personal biases aside,” the Sixth Amendment requires that she be 

dismissed.  Id. 

Mr. Trevigne invoked this precedent in his appeal, arguing 

that Noltie’s discussion of “equivocal statements” had to be 

construed consistent with Sixth Amendment protections.  Op. Br. 

at 50-59; Reply Br. at 3-7.  But the Court of Appeals refused to 

address it, instead holding that “some equivocation” is never 

enough to establish actual bias, under Noltie.  Op. at 6. 

This overly broad reading disregards the facts of Noltie and 

cannot be reconciled with federal precedent. 
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The challenged juror in Noltie, 116 Wn.2d at 836, initially 

stated she “might” have difficulty being fair, explaining she had 

never been on a jury before.  But she followed up with several 

unequivocal statements of rehabilitation.  Id.  For instance, she 

said, “The more I’ve listened to the Court . . . it seems that it would 

be a lot easier to be fair, but at first I was very apprehensive about 

it.”  Id.  She even went so far as to declare, “it would be a terrible 

injustice to the defendant not to have a fair trial and not to have 

people see him as innocent.”  Id. 

Unlike the juror in Noltie, Juror 122 was repeatedly given 

the opportunity to explain her reservations, and she simply 

repeated them.  RP 185, 192.  By the time the defense challenged 

Juror 122 for cause, the State apparently saw no point in trying to 

rehabilitate her—the prosecutor simply deferred.  RP 197-98. 

Mr. Trevigne does not challenge the holding of Noltie, 

which falls squarely within the rule that the trial court may 

“‘disregard a prospective juror’s initial responses suggesting bias 
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if that juror later ‘commits to lay aside those feelings . . . .’”  

Kechedzian, 902 F.3d 1023, 1027 (9th Cir. 2018) (quoting Image 

Tech. Servs., Inc. v. Eastman Kodak Co., 125 F.3d 1195, 1220 (9th 

Cir. 1997)).  But Juror 122’s comments do not fall within this rule. 

Noltie must be read consistent with Sixth and Fourteenth 

Amendment jury trial protections, which are binding on the states.  

Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 156, 88 S. Ct. 1444, 20 L. Ed. 

2d 491 (1968).  This Court should grant review and clarify that 

“equivocal statements” like Juror 122’s, in response to multiple 

attempts at rehabilitation, establish actual bias. 

2. Mr. Trevigne’s Claims Regarding the Late-Disclosed 

Messages Warrant Review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) 

and (4). 

 

Criminal Rule 4.7(a)(1)(v) obligates the prosecutor to 

disclose to the defense, no later than the omnibus hearing: 

any books, papers, documents, photographs, or 

tangible objects, which the prosecuting attorney 

intends to use in the hearing or trial or which were 

obtained from or belonged to the defendant. 
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This rule requires the State to disclose electronic 

discovery—such as the Cellebrite and laptop materials at issue 

here—not only timely but in a format “readily readable” by the 

defense.  State v. Dingman, 149 Wn. App. 648, 663-65, 202 P.3d 

388 (2009).   

“CrR 4.7’s disclosure requirements apply to impeachment 

and rebuttal evidence,” as well as to evidence the State intends to 

use in its case-in-chief.  State v. Moreno, 14 Wn. App. 2d 143, 160, 

470 P.3d 507 (2020).  This is true even where the evidence in 

question is within the defendant’s own, recent knowledge.  State 

v. Linden, 89 Wn. App. 184, 188-95, 947 P.2d 1284 (1997). 

In Mr. Trevigne’s case, the trial court recognized that the 

State violated CrR 4.7(a)(1)(v) when it failed to disclose the laptop 

materials until after opening statements.  RP 644-45.  It also 

recognized that the Cellebrite disclosure “was not easily readable 

to a layperson.”  RP 2300-01.  But it denied the motion for a new 

trial, reasoning that the defense could have retained a computer 
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forensics expert to second-guess Sergeant Sugai’s representations.  

RP 2301. 

As noted, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s 

ruling, but for a different reason.  The appellate court concluded 

defense counsel could not have been “surprised” by the 

impeaching text messages since, in its view, she had “described 

their contents in the motion to dismiss filed nine days before 

Trevigne took the stand.”  Op. at 15. 

The Court of Appeals then went on to hold that counsel did 

not perform deficiently when she allowed Mr. Trevigne to be 

impeached with these same messages.  Op. at 15-17. 

This paradoxical analysis leaves Mr. Trevigne with neither 

the protections of CrR 4.7 nor the protections of the Sixth 

Amendment.  Mr. Trevigne was clearly ambushed with messages 

from the laptop and the Cellebrite search, in a highly prejudicial 

spectacle near the end of trial.  This spectacle proves one of two 

things: either defense counsel had inadequate time to review the 
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messages at issue, due to the State’s discovery violations, or 

counsel was ineffective for allowing Mr. Trevigne to be ambushed 

in this manner. 

This Court should grant review to clarify the State’s duties, 

under CrR 4.7(a)(1)(v), and defense counsel’s duties, under the 

Sixth Amendment, to disclose and investigate electronic data. 

E. CONCLUSION 

This Court should grant review and reverse Mr. Trevigne’s 

conviction. 

I certify that this document was prepared using word 

processing software and contains 4,867 words excluding the 

parts exempted by RAP 18.17. 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON, 
 
   Respondent, 
 
  v. 
 
PETER LANUM TREVIGNE, 
 
   Appellant. 
 

 
 No. 84222-6-I 
 
 DIVISION ONE 
 

ORDER DENYING MOTION 
FOR RECONSIDERATION 

 
 

 
Appellant filed a motion for reconsideration on June 21, 2024.  After 

consideration of the motion the panel has determined that the motion for 

reconsideration shall be denied. 

Now, therefore, it is hereby 

ORDERED that the motion for reconsideration is denied. 

 
FOR THE COURT: 

 



 
 
 
 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, 
 
   Respondent, 
 
  v. 
 
PETER LANUM TREVIGNE, 
 
   Appellant. 
 

 
 No. 84222-6-I 
 
 DIVISION ONE 
 
 UNPUBLISHED OPINION 
 
 

 
 HAZELRIGG, A.C.J. — Peter Trevigne appeals from his conviction for one 

count of assault of a child in the first degree—domestic violence against his three-

month-old child, X, as well as the special verdicts that X was a particularly 

vulnerable victim and Trevigne abused his position of trust in the commission of 

the crime.  He seeks reversal on the grounds that he was “surprised” at trial by 

evidence of his text messages, his constitutional right to an impartial jury was 

violated, and he received ineffective assistance of counsel.  We disagree and 

affirm.  However, remand is required for the trial court to strike certain legal 

financial obligations from Trevigne’s judgment and sentence, and to consider 

whether to impose interest on restitution pursuant to RCW 10.82.090(2). 

 
FACTS1 

On August 14, 2018, the State charged Peter Trevigne with one count of 

assault of a child in the first degree, alleged as a crime of domestic violence, based 

                                            
1 Additional facts will be set out in each section as necessary for analysis of the various 

assignments of error. 
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on an incident involving his then three-month-old son, X.  Thereafter, the State 

filed an amended information and added special allegations that X was a 

particularly vulnerable victim and Trevigne abused a position of trust.  The charges 

stemmed from serious brain injuries that X suffered while in the sole care of 

Trevigne on August 9, 2018.  When X arrived at the hospital, initial CT2 scans 

showed brain swelling and subdural hematomas on both sides of X’s brain. 

The case proceeded to trial and the State offered testimony from numerous 

physicians and medical experts who treated and observed X, all of whom 

concluded that the injuries were consistent with nonaccidental trauma and abusive 

head trauma.  Trevigne took the stand in his own defense and testified that he was 

walking around the apartment rocking X, when all of a sudden “[X] just jolt[ed] and 

g[ot] real stiff.”  According to Trevigne, X remained stiff and turned bright red for 

five to ten seconds before “snap[ping] out of it.”  Then, Trevigne stated, X had a 

“wet dry heave” and “his eyes close[d] and he [went] limp.”  Angela Setlak, X’s 

mother and Trevigne’s former partner, also testified. 

The jury found Trevigne guilty as charged and further found the State had 

proved each special allegation beyond a reasonable doubt.  After the verdict, 

Trevigne moved for a new trial, but the judge denied the motion and imposed an 

exceptional sentence above the standard range of 150 months confinement.  The 

court also imposed the $500 victim penalty assessment (VPA) and $100 DNA 

collection fee as legal financial obligations, as well as $5,000 in restitution, with an 

                                            
2 Computed tomography. 



No. 84222-6-I/3 

- 3 - 

order that the restitution award would accrue interest in accordance with a statute 

in effect at the time of sentencing. 

 Trevigne timely appealed. 

 
ANALYSIS 

I. Claim of Juror Bias 
 

 Trevigne first assigns error to the trial court’s denial of his challenge for 

cause against juror 122 who, according to Trevigne, exhibited actual bias.   

 As the trial court weighs the credibility of a challenged juror and is in the 

best position to observe them, we give “substantial deference to the trial court’s 

decision of whether the juror is actually biased such that dismissal is appropriate.”  

State v. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn.2d 798, 806-07, 425 P.3d 807 (2018).  “A trial 

court abuses its discretion if its decision is ‘manifestly unreasonable or based on 

untenable grounds.’”  Id. at 807 (quoting Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass’n 

v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 339, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993)).  The denial of a 

challenge for cause “will not constitute reversible error absent a manifest abuse of 

that discretion.”  State v. Noltie, 116 Wn.2d 831, 838, 809 P.2d 190 (1991).   

 The right to a fair and impartial jury is guaranteed to all criminal defendants 

by our state and federal constitutions.  WASH. CONST. art. I, § 22; U.S. CONST. 

amend. VI.  To protect this constitutional right, a party may seek to excuse a juror 

by challenging them for cause.  State v. Guevara Diaz, 11 Wn. App. 2d 843, 855, 

456 P.3d 869 (2020); CrR 6.4(c)(1).  One of the particular grounds for such a 

challenge is “actual bias,” which is defined as “the existence of a state of mind on 

the part of the juror in reference to the action, or to either party, which satisfies the 
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court that the challenged person cannot try the issue impartially and without 

prejudice to the substantial rights of the party challenging.”  RCW 4.44.170(2).  To 

sustain a challenge based on actual bias, “the court must be satisfied, from all the 

circumstances, that the juror cannot disregard such opinion and try the issue 

impartially.”  RCW 4.44.190. 

 Before jury selection began on August 19, 2022, the potential jurors filled 

out written questionnaires and answered questions on their ability to serve.  The 

State notes in briefing that the instructions of the court for jurors completing the 

questionnaire do not appear in the record from the trial court, but instructions on a 

questionnaire proposed by Trevigne expressly directed participants to “please 

answer ‘yes’ to any question where you believe your response would be ‘yes’ or 

‘maybe.’”3  (Emphasis added.)  Juror 122 answered “Yes” to the question, “Is there 

any reason that you would be unable to be fair and impartial to both sides in a case 

involving an accusation of assault of an infant?”  In explanation of her response to 

that question, juror 122 wrote, “Maybe.  I’m a mother and would have [a] hard time 

understanding why someone would do that.”  Juror 122 later answered “No” to the 

question, “Do you have any concerns for any reason about your ability to be a fair 

and impartial juror in this case?” 

 During questioning of the prospective jurors, juror 122 and eight others 

raised their hands when defense counsel asked the panel if they thought “you 

                                            
3  On the proposed questionnaire from the defense, there is a preprinted line immediately 

following question seven about reasons a juror might be unable to try the case fairly or impartially.  
The line reads, “If yes or maybe, please explain briefly,” followed by four blank lines for the juror’s 
response. 
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know, this is not for me.  I really can’t just set aside everything and sort of be this 

idealized version of impartiality.”  When asked to explain, juror 122 stated: 

I mean, similar to what a couple of the other jurors have said. I mean, 
we’ve all been there with small children, but there’s a million options 
besides shaking them and hurting them and it just has long-term 
impacts and I think I’d like to think I could be unbiased, but I’m not 
sure I could when it comes to abuse of a small child. 

 
(Emphasis added.)  Trevigne challenged juror 122 for cause and the trial court 

denied the challenge.  Trevigne exhausted his peremptory challenges on other 

jurors and juror 122 was seated and deliberated. 

 On appeal, Trevigne points to juror 122 stating, “I think I’d like to think I 

could be unbiased, but I’m not sure I could when it comes to abuse of a small 

child,” as establishing actual bias.  However, “equivocal answers alone do not 

require a juror to be removed when challenged for cause, rather, the question is 

whether a juror with preconceived ideas can set them aside.”  Noltie, 116 Wn.2d 

at 839.  Actual bias must be “established by proof” and “the record must 

demonstrate ‘that there was a probability of actual bias.’”  Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 

Wn.2d at 808-09 (quoting Noltie, 116 Wn.2d at 838-39).  The single statement 

identified by Trevigne is equivocal and insufficient by itself to constitute actual bias. 

 Trevigne relies on Guevara Diaz as support for his argument on this issue.  

In that case, the juror answered “No” in a questionnaire asking whether she could 

be fair to both sides in a sexual assault trial, the trial court did not allow defense 

counsel to question her outside the presence of the jury, and neither the court nor 

the defense asked her any questions during voir dire.  11 Wn. App. 2d at 846-47.  

The only question the juror was asked individually was whether “she could follow 
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the judge’s instruction in reviewing the evidence even if she did not want someone 

to be punished.”  Id. at 857.  She responded, “I would be able to.  No 

compromising.”  Id.  This court held that “she exhibited actual bias” as “[a]ll that the 

record clearly shows is that juror 23 said she could not be fair.”  Id. at 858. 

 Here, unlike the limited exchanges in Guevara Diaz, the record shows 

multiple responses from juror 122, both written and verbal, that do not indicate an 

inability to be fair and impartial.  Although juror 122 answered “Yes” to whether 

there was “any reason that [she] would be unable to be fair and impartial to both 

sides,” she clarified her answer with: “Maybe.  I’m a mother and would have [a] 

hard time understanding why someone would do that.”  Moreover, juror 122 later 

answered “No” when specifically asked if she had “any concerns for any reason 

about [her] ability to be a fair and impartial juror in this case.”  While her answer 

during voir dire showed some equivocation, that is not enough to show actual bias.  

Noltie, 116 Wn.2d at 839.  Here, the record does not establish that juror 122 had 

a probability of actual bias and, thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in 

denying the defense challenge for cause.  See Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn.2d at 

808-09. 

 
II. Defense Motion for New Trial 

 Trevigne avers the trial court erred in denying his motion for a new trial 

“based on surprise and irregularity.”4  We disagree. 

                                            
 4 On appeal, Trevigne points to two distinct provisions in support of his contention that the 
trial court erred denying his motion for a new trial: CrR 7.5(a)(4), “Accident or surprise,” and CrR 
7.5(a)(5), “Irregularity in the proceedings of the court, jury or prosecution, or any order of court, or 
abuse of discretion, by which the defendant was prevented from having a fair trial.” However, 
Trevigne did not raise CrR 7.5(a)(5) in his motion for a new trial.  Moreover, he makes no attempt 
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A. Facts from Trial 

 Trial commenced on April 25, 2022, and the parties delivered opening 

statements.  The State’s second witness, Detective Jayme Beecroft of the Seattle 

Police Department (SPD), was set to testify the following day.  In preparing for 

Beecroft’s testimony, both defense counsel and the deputy prosecutor realized that 

they had not received Beecroft’s report on certain evidence of text messages 

extracted from Trevigne’s laptop, which she had referenced during her defense 

interview in October 2020.  The following morning, defense counsel raised the 

issue to the trial judge and asserted that it was a violation of the State’s obligations 

under Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963).  In 

response, the prosecutor said that he reached out to Beecroft that morning and 

requested her report.  He further advised that Beecroft e-mailed him the data 

extracted from the laptop, which the prosecutor forwarded to the defense “within 

minutes.”  The judge noted that the failure to timely disclose the data from the 

laptop “was at least a violation of [CrR] 4.7” and explained that Beecroft may need 

to be brought back to testify on cross-examination depending on what evidence 

had been discovered in the search of the laptop.  At the conclusion of testimony 

                                            
to meet RAP 2.5(a)’s requirement of demonstrating a “manifest error affecting a constitutional right” 
in order to raise this argument for the first time on appeal.   
 “A party may not generally raise a new argument on appeal that the party did not present 
to the trial court.”  State v. Lazcano, 188 Wn. App. 338, 355, 354 P.3d 233 (2015).  Rather, the 
party “must inform the [trial] court of the rules of law it wishes the court to apply and afford the trial 
court an opportunity to correct any error.”  Id.  Because Trevigne did not raise any argument under 
CrR 7.5(a)(5) in the trial court and does not address RAP 2.5, we do not consider this argument.  
Moreover, even if Trevigne could raise this new basis for the first time on appeal, this court “will not 
review issues for which inadequate argument is briefed or only passing treatment is given.”  State 
v. C.B., 195 Wn. App. 528, 535, 380 P.3d 626 (2016).  As Trevigne neither provides separate 
analysis under CrR 7.5(a)(5) nor expressly identifies any specific “irregularity” that allegedly 
deprived him of a fair trial, this issue is inadequately briefed and does not warrant consideration. 
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that day, the State turned over a drive that contained a detective’s analysis of the 

laptop data. 

 The next day, April 27, Trevigne moved for a mistrial based on the late 

disclosure of the data from his laptop.  The data purportedly contained a total of 

137,624 text messages exchanged between Trevigne and other contacts, 

including Setlak, and defense counsel voiced concerns about having time to review 

those messages while also preparing for cross-examination of Setlak and other of 

the State’s witnesses.  The prosecutor explained that he was not going to seek 

admission of any evidence from the laptop but rather intended to move to admit 

and publish the text messages between Setlak and Trevigne that were exchanged 

on August 9 and 10, 2018, which came from the extraction of Setlak’s cell phone.  

The evidence from Setlak’s cell phone had been provided to Trevigne during 

discovery in a Cellebrite5 report, but the court acknowledged the potential that 

there could be impeachment evidence from Trevigne’s laptop and thus required 

that Setlak be made available for possible recall on cross-examination.  The judge 

denied the motion for a mistrial.6 

 On April 28, after having reviewed the messages from Trevigne’s laptop that 

included communication with Setlak, the prosecutor stated that the defense “had 

every message from [] Setlak’s phone dating back to July of 2017, which includes 

every message from [] Setlak and [] Trevigne.”  Thus, the prosecutor asserted, 

“there was nothing new” between Setlak and Trevigne that came from the laptop.  

                                            
5 “Cellebrite” is a digital forensics tool used by law enforcement to extract data from cell 

phones. 
6 Trevigne does not challenge this ruling on appeal. 
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In response, defense counsel contended, incorrectly, that the Cellebrite report she 

had received in discovery only included text messages between Setlak and 

Trevigne “from August 3rd to August 10th or 13th[, 2018].”   

 On May 2, Trevigne filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to CrR 8.3(b) for 

alleged violations of Brady and CrR 4.7 based on the late disclosure of the data 

extracted from Trevigne’s laptop.  In the motion, defense counsel described the 

contents of the text messages from the laptop and referenced photos and text 

messages exchanged between Trevigne and his friend, Kristen Austen, as well as 

others.  Defense counsel also described the text messages between Trevigne and 

Setlak as follows: 

[T]he laptop analysis contains thousands of text messages between 
[] Trevigne and [] Setlak over the course of 10 months leading up to 
the incident. Many of these text messages are further evidence that 
[] Trevigne lacked the intent to harm [X]. The text messages also 
show that [] Setlak used similar derogatory language as [] Trevigne 
when referring to [X], such as calling him “little fucker,” a nickname 
she created for [X] when he was still in utero. 
 

Trevigne argued that the laptop analysis contained Brady evidence that was 

favorable to the defense, including impeachment evidence against Setlak,7 and 

therefore, the State’s “failure to disclose” the evidence deprived him of his right to 

a fair trial.   

 The State filed a response and pointed out again that all of the messages 

between Setlak and Trevigne that were obtained from his laptop were also 

included in the Cellebrite report from Setlak’s cell phone, which was turned over to 

                                            
 7 Trevigne did not recall Setlak for additional cross-examination. 
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the defense in discovery on January 28, 2020.  After hearing argument from the 

parties, the trial court denied the motion to dismiss.8 

 On May 10, after both defense experts testified, Trevigne’s counsel sought 

a half-day recess for the following day in order to discuss the laptop materials with 

Trevigne and determine whether he would testify.  The judge denied the half-day 

recess but agreed to resume trial later than usual, at 10:30 a.m.  After this 

consultation with counsel, Trevigne advised the court that he would testify and 

seek to admit two exhibits derived from his laptop, text messages from Setlak 

referring to X as “little fucker” and text messages exchanged with Austen.   

 On May 11, two weeks after receiving all of his own text messages that were 

derived from the analysis of his laptop, Trevigne took the stand to testify.  He 

explained that he had not slept the night before the August 9, 2018 incident and 

was unable to sleep the next day due to X’s behavior.  Trevigne denied being 

frustrated with X for keeping him awake and testified that it was “nothing [he] 

couldn’t handle.”  When defense counsel asked him about the numerous text 

messages he had sent to Setlak on August 9, including a message that read, “This 

isn’t a good idea; can I murder [X], please?”, Trevigne asserted that he had only 

“mimicked the text messages” that Setlak had sent him when she took X to the ER 

on July 26, 2018.  According to Trevigne, when Setlak was at the ER with X on 

that date, she messaged him saying, “I am going to kill him” or “Can I kill him?”  On 

cross-examination, however, Trevigne admitted that there was no text message 

from Setlak between July 24 and 26 where she said any such thing.  Trevigne was 

                                            
8 Trevigne does not appeal this ruling. 
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also impeached with text messages that contradicted his testimony about the 

reasons behind his breakup with Setlak and his complaints to friends about Setlak 

and X. 

 On May 26, 2022, Trevigne filed a motion for a new trial and argued that his 

“right to a fair trial was materially affected by surprise at trial.”  Trevigne claimed 

that the State “withheld evidence” of his own text messages with Setlak and that 

he “became aware of the existence of these text messages just two days prior to 

his testimony.”  According to Trevigne, he was “prejudiced when he was confronted 

for the first time on the stand with text messages he had not seen for over three 

years.”  At the hearing on the motion for a new trial, defense counsel stated, 

“[T]here is no case, one way or the other, that describes what in fact is a surprise 

when it comes up at trial, but I do think that this squarely falls into that situation.” 

 In response, the State emphasized that “the evidence the defense is 

claiming to be surprised by are the defendant’s own statements.”  The State 

reasoned that there was no “surprise” because it was “[Trevigne’s] own prior 

inconsistent statements” that “were used as impeachment evidence in cross-

examination.”  The State noted that the text messages were not presented in its 

case in chief and it was Trevigne who “took the stand and chose to testify about 

prior text message conversations,” which were “brief conversations from three 

select dates in the month of July [2018].”  The State explained that Trevigne 

“opened himself up to cross-examination of those text conversations because he 

testified wildly inconsistently with what those text conversations actually were” and 

other “messages that he claimed that were exchanged just didn’t exist.”  Notably, 
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the State also highlighted that the “defense did have access to these messages in 

discovery” but “chose not to inspect every file contained within discovery.” 

 After hearing from the parties, the trial court denied the motion for a new 

trial: 

 I understand the defense’s point that had the defense had this 
information—clearly had this information—it could have—two points; 
one, [] Trevigne arguably could have made a decision not to testify, 
or alternatively his testimony could have addressed these issues 
without ameliorating any sense of impeachment or surprise.  
 That said I think the evidence would have come out anyway.  
 The defense—and I also understand the defense position with 
respect to access to the information, but the—and the technical 
issues regarding—which I don’t fully understand, but I do accept the 
fact that technically it was not easily readable to a layperson, but the 
defense could have retained someone to get into this information and 
the defense does do that in other kinds of cases—experts, computer-
type experts—programmers, coders—and that is something the 
defense didn’t do, so the amount of surprise I think is less than the 
defense is presenting here, or at least less than the court should take 
into consideration.  
 While the issue of the use of the word murder and the use of 
the F-word was certainly not entirely a surprise, and I think it was 
clear—the court—the parties made it clear to the jury that these were 
not aggressive terms, they were not intended aggressively, they 
were odd—odd terms of what I would call potentially terms of 
endearment and not anything vicious or ugly.  
 I am satisfied that the defendant got a fair trial; it was mostly 
a credibility issue. I am going to deny the motion for a new trial. 
 
B. Analysis Under CrR 7.5 

 CrR 7.5(a) provides that the trial court may grant a defendant’s motion for 

a new trial when “it affirmatively appears that a substantial right of the defendant 

was materially affected” by any one of eight enumerated causes.  At issue here is 

CrR 7.5(a)(4), “Accident or surprise.”9   

                                            
 9 Although Trevigne’s motion for a new trial also sought relief under CrR 7.5(a)(6), “Error 
of law occurring at the trial and objected to at the time by the defendant,” and CrR 7.5(a)(8), “That 
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 A new trial is required “only when the defendant ‘has been so prejudiced 

that nothing short of a new trial can insure that the defendant will be treated fairly.’”  

State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389, 406, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997) (quoting State v. 

Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85, 882 P.2d 747 (1994)).  Whether to grant or deny a 

motion for a new trial is “within the discretion of the trial court, and the decision will 

not be disturbed unless there is a clear abuse of discretion.”  State v. Hager, 171 

Wn.2d 151, 156, 248 P.3d 512 (2011).  Such an abuse of discretion exists “‘only 

when no reasonable judge would have reached the same conclusion.’”  State v. 

McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 P.3d 221 (2006) (internal quotation marks 

omitted) (quoting Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d at 406).   

 Trevigne relies on State v. Townsend, 7 Wash. 462, 35 P. 367 (1893), for 

the contention that “surprise” warrants a new trial here.  Townsend was convicted 

of assault with a deadly weapon and the judge denied his motion for a new trial.  

Townsend, 7 Wash. at 466.  In support of that motion, defense counsel submitted 

an affidavit, which was undisputed and provided that “the prosecuting attorney, in 

open session of the court, and in the presence of divers and sundry persons, stated 

to the court that he did not intend to further prosecute the defendant, John Port 

Townsend, and that said cause would be dismissed.”  Id.  The prosecutor’s 

statement was communicated to Townsend who, in reliance on the statement, 

failed to raise money or correspond with defense counsel as to the “necessity of 

procuring witnesses to testify” on his behalf.  Id.  On review, the court stated that 

the prosecutor’s statement “would be almost certain to mislead the defendant and 

                                            
substantial justice has not been done,” he does not present argument on appeal on those alternate 
bases. 
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his attorneys, and cause them to cease their preparations for defense.”  Id. at 467.  

As to prejudice, the court explained that the materiality of the testimony of one of 

the witnesses identified in the affidavit “cannot be disputed” and if that witness 

“would testify to the state of things which the affidavit states he will, that the result 

of the trial would probably be different.”  Id. at 467-68.  Thus, the court reversed 

and remanded for a new trial.  Id. at 468. 

 Ignoring the fact that Townsend is over 130 years old and includes 

problematic reasoning based on colonial and discriminatory perspectives of Native 

Americans, the holding is easily distinguished.  Trevigne points to the defense 

interview of SPD Sergeant Darin Sugai on August 5, 2020, which addressed the 

Cellebrite report of Setlak’s phone, and alleges that Sugai incorrectly assured the 

defense that the evidence extracted “did not contain any messages outside the 

eight-day window between August 3 and August 10, 2018.”  Even if this 

characterization captured the entirety of the information conveyed by Sugai, it 

would hardly be comparable to the prosecutor in Townsend stating in open court 

that the charges are going to be dismissed.  When asked about a particular folder 

in the Cellebrite data, Sugai told defense counsel that he was “assuming that [the 

folder labeled] logical 01 is a raw data file” but explained that he had not looked at 

it.  More critically though, the court in Townsend determined a new trial was 

appropriate as the presence of a key witness with material testimony had not been 

procured for trial in reliance on the prosecutor’s statement that he was dismissing 

the case, whereas the evidence here was Trevigne’s own text messages with 

Setlak that were not exculpatory and had been turned over to the defense in 
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discovery, albeit from a difference source.  Even if the messages were not 

recognized at the time of their initial disclosure in the Cellebrite data from Setlak’s 

phone, the record clearly establishes that they were reviewed prior to Trevigne’s 

testimony as defense counsel described their contents in the motion to dismiss 

filed nine days before Trevigne took the stand.  The procedural history and record 

of this case establishes that the content of the messages was not a surprise under 

CrR 7.5(a)(4).  Trevigne’s impeachment with his own text messages, which had 

been turned over in discovery nearly two years before trial and examined by 

defense counsel closely enough to have been cited and discussed in an earlier 

motion, did not result in such prejudice that would require a new trial.  The trial 

court did not abuse its discretion in denying Trevigne’s CrR 7.5 motion.  See 

Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d at 406.  

 
III. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 

 Trevigne argues in the alternative that if the State’s discovery violations do 

not warrant a new trial, then defense counsel was ineffective for failing to 

adequately investigate the laptop and cell phone data.   

 The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 

22 of our state constitution guarantee the right to effective assistance of counsel.  

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 

(1984); State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 32, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011).  To succeed on a 

claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must satisfy the two-part 

Strickland test, which requires a showing of deficient performance and resulting 

prejudice.  466 U.S. at 687.  Specifically, the defendant must show that 
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(1) defense counsel’s representation was deficient, i.e., it fell below 
an objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of 
all the circumstances; and (2) defense counsel’s deficient 
representation prejudiced the defendant, i.e., there is a reasonable 
probability that, except for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result 
of the proceeding would have been different. 
 

State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).  “If either 

element of the test is not satisfied, the inquiry ends.”  State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 

856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). 

 The burden is on the defendant to establish deficient performance.  Grier, 

171 Wn.2d at 33.  To meet this burden, the defendant must overcome “a strong 

presumption that counsel’s performance was reasonable.”  Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d at 

862; see also In re Pers. Restraint of Lui, 188 Wn.2d 525, 539, 397 P.3d 90 (2017) 

(“[O]ur scrutiny of counsel’s performance is highly deferential and we strongly 

presume reasonableness.”).  “Because the presumption runs in favor of effective 

representation, the defendant must show in the record the absence of legitimate 

strategic or tactical reasons supporting the challenged conduct by counsel.”  

McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 336. 

 The presumption of reasonable performance can be overcome by showing 

that counsel failed to conduct appropriate investigation.  State v. Thomas, 109 

Wn.2d 222, 230, 743 P.2d 816 (1987); State v. Maurice, 79 Wn. App. 544, 552, 

903 P.2d 514 (1995).  To be effective, “‘counsel must, at a minimum, conduct a 

reasonable investigation enabling counsel to make informed decisions about how 

best to represent the client.’”  In re Pers. Restraint of Brett, 142 Wn.2d 868, 873, 

16 P.3d 601 (2001) (quoting Sanders v. Ratelle, 21 F.3d 1446, 1456 (9th 

Cir.1994)). 
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 Trevigne cites to Thomas, Maurice, and Brett in briefing, but offers no 

analysis of those cases and fails to even apply the first prong of the Strickland test 

to the alleged deficient conduct at issue.  Rather, Trevigne expressly “maintains 

the State, not defense counsel, is to blame,” and then summarily asserts that “if 

this court concludes otherwise, then defense counsel was deficient for failing to 

obtain and review the contents of the laptop and cell phone extraction.”  This 

conclusory statement is plainly insufficient to overcome the strong presumption 

that defense counsel’s performance was reasonable considering all of the 

circumstances.10 

 The three cases Trevigne relies on involved defense counsel who 

completely failed to investigate pivotal issues of their cases.  See Thomas, 109 

Wn.2d at 229-31 (finding defense counsel made “no investigation” into 

qualifications of only witness called as expert and witness was clearly unqualified 

to offer expert testimony); Maurice, 79 Wn. App. at 550-52 (noting defendant 

charged with vehicular homicide insisted mechanical malfunction made him lose 

control of vehicle but defense counsel did not investigate claim and failed to even 

have vehicle inspected by mechanic before trial); Brett, 142 Wn.2d at 880-81 

(finding defense counsel in capital case had reason to know of defendant’s mental 

and physical disabilities but failed to conduct investigation into those issues and 

only expert sought by counsel to evaluate defendant was “wholly unqualified to 

render a medical diagnosis”).  Trevigne fails to provide any analysis in briefing to 

                                            
 10 “‘Passing treatment of an issue or lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit 
judicial consideration.’”  State v. Collins, 152 Wn. App. 429, 440 n.27, 216 P.3d 463 (2009) (quoting 
Palmer v. Jensen, 81 Wn. App. 148, 153, 913 P.2d 413 (1996)). 
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demonstrate factual similarity between these cases and his own.  Because 

Trevigne has not carried his burden to establish deficient performance under 

Strickland, we need not reach prejudice.  Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d at 862. 

 
IV. Victim Penalty Assessment and DNA Collection Fee 

 Trevigne next argues the trial court erred in imposing the $500 VPA and 

$100 DNA collection fee and requests this court to remand for the trial court to 

strike both from his judgment and sentence.  The State does not oppose remand 

to strike the VPA and DNA fee. 

 After Trevigne’s sentencing in June 2022, the legislature amended RCW 

7.68.035 to restrict trial courts from imposing the VPA “if the court finds that the 

defendant, at the time of sentencing, is indigent.”  RCW 7.68.035(4); LAWS OF 

2023, ch. 449, § 1.  Trevigne is indigent and the State does not contest this.  While 

no express finding of indigency was made at the time of sentencing, it is clear from 

the court’s order authorizing Trevigne’s appeal to proceed in forma pauperis and 

the fact that it only imposed the VPA and DNA fee, both of which were mandatory 

regardless of indigency at the time, that the court considered him indigent.   

 Although the statutory amendment that added subsection RCW 7.68.035(4) 

took effect on July 1, 2023, after Trevigne was sentenced, it nonetheless applies 

to Trevigne because his case is on direct appeal.  State v. Ellis, 27 Wn. App. 2d 1, 

16, 530 P.3d 1048 (2023) (citing State v. Ramirez, 191 Wn.2d 732, 748-49, 426 

P.3d 714 (2018)).  Similarly, the legislature amended RCW 43.43.7541 and that 

statute no longer requires defendants to pay a DNA collection fee.  LAWS OF 2023, 

ch. 449, § 4.  This amendment also applies to Trevigne.  See Ellis, 27 Wn. App. 
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2d at 17.  Accordingly, we remand for the trial court to strike both the VPA and 

DNA collection fee from the judgment and sentence. 

 
V. Interest on Restitution 

 Based on another statutory amendment, Trevigne argues the trial court erred 

by failing to exercise its discretion when imposing interest on the restitution award.  

 The statute in effect at the time of Trevigne’s sentencing provided that 

“restitution imposed in a judgment shall bear interest from the date of the judgment 

until payment, at the rate applicable to civil judgments.”  Former RCW 10.82.090(1) 

(2018).  As the trial court ordered Trevigne to pay $5,000 in restitution to Setlak, the 

judgment and sentence provides that amount will bear interest pursuant to the former 

RCW 10.82.090. 

 After Trevigne was sentenced, the legislature amended RCW 10.82.090 and 

the new provision provides that the trial court “may elect not to impose interest on any 

restitution the court orders.”  RCW 10.82.090(2); LAWS OF 2022, ch. 260, § 12.  Before 

a trial court determines whether to impose interest on restitution, it must now consider 

the following factors: 

(a) Whether the offender is indigent as defined in RCW 10.01.160(3) or 
general rule 34; (b) the offender’s available funds, as defined in 
RCW 10.101.010(2), and other liabilities including child support and 
other legal financial obligations; (c) whether the offender is 
homeless; and (d) whether the offender is mentally ill, as defined in 
RCW 71.24.025. The court shall also consider the victim’s input, if 
any, as it relates to any financial hardship caused to the victim if 
interest is not imposed. The court may also consider any other 
information that the court believes, in the interest of justice, relates 
to not imposing interest on restitution. After consideration of these 
factors, the court may waive the imposition of restitution interest. 

 
RCW 10.82.090(2). 
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 Though this amendment did not come into effect until after Trevigne’s 

sentencing, it applies now because his case is on direct appeal.  Ellis, 27 Wn. App. 

2d at 16 (citing Ramirez, 191 Wn.2d at 748-49). 

 Unpersuasively, the State avers that “Ellis was wrong to rely on Ramirez” and 

insists that this court “should not make the same mistake.”  This division has already 

considered and rejected the State’s contention on this precise issue, that Ellis was 

wrongly decided.  See State v. Reed, 28 Wn. App. 2d 779, 538 P.3d 946 (2023).  In 

Reed, this court explained that “[l]ike the costs imposed in Ramirez, restitution interest 

is a financial obligation imposed on a criminal defendant as a result of a conviction.”  

Id. at 782.  The court expressly “agree[d] with Ellis that restitution interest is analogous 

to costs for purposes of applying the rule that new statutory mandates apply in cases, 

like this one, that are on direct appeal.”  Id.  In line with Ellis, this court explained that 

“though the amendment to RCW 10.82.090 regarding the superior court’s authority to 

waive interest on restitution did not take effect until after Reed’s resentencing, it 

applies here because this case is on direct appeal.”  Id.   

Following the sound reasoning of Ellis and Reed, on remand the trial court 

must also determine whether to impose interest on restitution pursuant to RCW 

10.82.090(2). 

 Affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded. 
 
 
 
       
WE CONCUR: 
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